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In the United States District Court, for the North-

em District of California, Southern Division

Criminal No. 35569

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,

vs.

ROBERT LEE KORTE,
Defendant.

INDICTMENT

Violation: Section 12(a), Universal Military Train-

ing and Service Act (50 U.S.C, App. 462(a))

The Grand Jury charges that : Robert Lee Korte,

defendant herein, being a male citizen, of the age

of 24 years, residing in the United States and

under the duty to present himself for and submit

to registration under the provisions of Public Law
759 of the 80th Congress, approved June 24, 1948,

known as the ^^ Selective Service Act of 1948," as

amended by Public Law 51 of the 82nd Congress,

approved June 19, 1951, known as the ^^ Universal

Military Training and Service Act," hereinafter

called ^^said Act," and thereafter to comply with

the rules and regulations of said Act, and having, in

pursuance of said Act and the rules and regulations

made pursuant thereto, become a registrant of Local

Board No. 40 of the Selective Service System in

the City of San Francisco, County of San Francisco,

State of California, which said Local Board No. 40

was duly created, appointed and acting for the area
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of which the said defendant is a registrant, did, on

or about the 26th day of November, 1956, in the

City and County of San Francisco, State and

Northern District of California, knowingly fail to

perform such duty, in that he, the said defendant,

having theretofore been duly classified in Class

l-0,did then and there knowingly refuse and fail

to comply with the order of his said Local Board

No. 40, to report to his said Local Board No. 40 to

be given instructions to proceed to a place of em-

ployment designated by said Local Board No. 40

for the purpose of doing civilian work contributing

to the maintenance of the national health, safety

and interest as provided in the said Act and the

rules and regulations made pursuant thereto.

A True Bill.

/s/ W. I. KOHNKE,
Foreman.

/s/ LLOYD H. BURKE,
United States Attorney.

Approved as to form:

/s/ J, H. RIORDAN, JR.

Bail, $500.00.

/s/ O. D. HAMLIN.

[Endorsed]: Filed March 27, 1957.
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[Title of District Court and Cause.]

WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL

In conformity with Rule 23 of the Rules of

Criminal Procedure for the District Courts of the

United States, effective March 21, 1946, we, the

undersigned, do hereby waive trial by jury and re-

quest that the above-entitled cause be tried before

the Court sitting without a jury.

Dated: San Francisco, California, May 29, 1957.

/s/ ROBERT LEE KORTE,
Defendant.

/s/ RICHARD J. WERTHEIMER,
Attorney for Defendant.

/s/ DONALD B. CONSTINE,
Assistant United States

Attorney.

Approved

:

/s/ EDWARD P. MURPHY,
Judge, United States District Court, Northern Dis^

trict of California.

[Endorsed] : Filed May 29, 1957.
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United States District Court, for the Northern

District of California, Southern Division

No. 35569

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

vs.

ROBERT LEE KORTE.

JUDGMENT AND COMMITMENT

On this 17th day of June, 1957, came the attorney

for the government and the defendant appeared in

person and with counsel.

It Is Adjudged that the defendant has been con-

victed upon his plea of Not Guilty, and a Finding

of Guilty after trial by Court, Jury having been

waived in writing of the offense of Violation of

Title 50 U.S.C., § 12(a) App. 462(a), Universal

Military Training and Service Act, in that on No-

vember 26, 1956, deft, knowingly failed to perform

work contributing to the maintenance of the

national health, safety & interest as charged in the

One (1) Count Indictment and the court having

asked the defendant whether he has anything to say

why judgment should not be pronounced, and no

sufficient cause to the contrary being shown or ap-

pearing to the Court,

It Is Adjudged that the defendant is guilty as

charged and convicted.

It Is Adjudged that the defendant is hereby com-

mitted to the custody of the Attorney General or
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his authorized representative for imprisonment for

a period of Nine (9) Months.

It Is Adjudged that Defendant be gi*anted bail

on appeal, bail set in the amount of $500.00.

Examined by

:

/s/ DONALD B. CONSTINE,
Asst. U. S. Atty.

It Is Ordered that the Clerk deliver a certified

copy of this judgment and commitment to the

United States Marshal or other qualified officer and

that the copy serve as the commitment of the de-

fendant.

/s/ MICHAEL J. ROCHE,
United States District Judge.

Entered June 20, 1957.

[Endorsed]: Filed June 19, 1957.

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

NOTICE OP APPEAL

To the Honorable Michael J. Roche, Judge of the

United States District Court of Appeals and

To Donald Constine, Attorney for plaintiff.

Take Notice that the defendant in the above-en-

titled action hereby appeals to the United States

Court of Appeals, Ninth Circuit, from the judg-

ment herein made and entered in the said United
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States District Court on the 17th day of June, 1957,

in favor of said plaintiff and against said defendant

and from the whole of said judgment.

Dated: June 17, 1957.

/s/ RICHARD J. WERTHEIMER,
Attorney for Plaintiff.

[Endorsed] : Filed June 21, 1957.

In the District Court of the United States, for the

Northern District of California, Southern Di-

vision
No. 35,569

UNITED STATES OFAMERICA,
Plaintiff,

vs.

ROBERT LEE KORTE,
Defendant.

Before: Hon. Michael J. Roche, Judge.

REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT

Appearances:

For the Plaintiff

:

LLOYD H. BURKE,
United States Attorney, By

DONALD B. CONSTINE, ESQ.,

Assistant United States Attorney.

For the Defendant

:

RICHARD J. WERTHEIMER, ESQ.
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Monday, June 3, 1957—10:00 o 'Clock A.M.

OPENING STATEMENT ON BEHALF
OP THE PLAINTIPP

Mr. Constine: If it please the Court, the file

in this case indicates that an indictment was re-

turned against this defendant on March 27, 1957.

The defendant plead not guilty and waived a jury

trial. So we have before your Honor for Court trial

this morning this case.

The indictment charges, your Honor, that this

defendant is 24 years of age and is a registrant of

Local Board 40. That is in San Prancisco.

The indictment charges that he was classified 1-0,

which is a conscientious objector classification.

The indictment charges that he refused to report

to his local board to be given instructions to proceed

to a place of employment to perform work which

would contribute to the national health, safety and

interest, in lieu of induction. In other words, your

Honor, this indictment charges that this defendant

was classified as a conscientious objector and refused

to perform civilian work in lieu of induction.

The government will show, your Honor, that this

defendant, back in 1952 and 1953, was classified

1-A and was ordered to report for induction. We
will prove that this defendant refused to report for

induction and was indicted for that refusal to re-

port for induction as a 1-A classified [3^] regis-

trant. We will show that he was convicted in this

•Page numbering appearing at top of page of original Reporter's

Transcript of Record.
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the document I have numbered as No. 2 with a slip

of paper in the file. That is the special form for

conscientious objection received by the local board

on April 21, 1952.

On the first page of that document, in the middle

of the page, where it says ^^ Claim for Exemption,"

the defendant indicates he is opposed to both com-

batant and non-combatant service in the armed

forces.

I wish to call your Honor's attention to page 3 of

that same questionnaire. The defendant indicates in

Item 1 that he was a member of the Reserve Of-

ficers Training Corps, University of California, and

he states, however, he was a member because it was

compulsory to be so. He also states that he is a

member of Jehovah's Witnesses, and on the bottom

of that page he states he has been a member of the

Lutheran Church in San Francisco.

I wish to call your Honor's attention to a docu-

ment that I have marked as No. 3 with a slip of

paper.

The Court : May 5, 1952 ?

Mr. Constine: Yes. I wish to read this into the

record. [6] The personal interAdew sheet of the

hearing of this defendant indicates that registrant

submitted Form 150, Conscientious Objector (read-

ing) :

'^Registrant reported he has been ordained as a

minister since last Sunday 5-4-52. Has belonged

to Jehovah's Witnesses since about a year ago.

Before that he belonged to the Lutheran Church.

Is now employed full time as clerk at the Western
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Pacific Railroad. Preaches on Sundays only. Is

not now living with parents ; has vacant room at girl

friend's house, 1821-25th Street. Registrant advised

to appeal.''

This document is dated May 5, 1952, and it is the

interview sheet.

I might state subsequent to this interview he was

retained in Class 1-A on May 5, 1952.

Document No. 4, which I have marked as No. 4

in your Honor's file, is merely the certificate of ac-

ceptability dated January 19, 1953, indicating he is

fully acceptable for service in the armed forces as

being physically fit. That is called the certificate of

acceptability. I have marked that as No. 4. That

document indicates he is physically fit for service in

the armed forces.

Document No. 5, your Honor, dated March 3,

1953, is the Department of Justice letter to the

Appeal Board in San [7] Francisco, and I wish

to read from the bottom of page 2 of that letter—
not the first page, but the bottom of page 2 of that

letter, which is the conclusion (reading)

:

'^The Hearing Officer concluded that registrant

was a bona fide conscientious objector in spite of his

comparatively recent conversion. He recommended

a l-I-O classification."

I read on on page 3 (reading) :

'^ Although there is no reason to question regis-

trant's sincere adherence to the precepts of his

church, he has failed to establish his claim as a true

conscientious objector. By the statement in his SSS
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Forni 150, wherein registrant admits that he will

engage in. war if commanded by God, he has re-

moved himself from the purview of the Universal

Military Training and Service Act, which requires

that a registrant must be opposed to participation

in war in any form in order to merit exemption.

Registrant's willingness to indulge in theocratic

warfare if so ordered by Jehovah necessitates a

denial of his claim."

Then the letter concludes (reading) :

*' After consideration of the entire file and record,

the Department of Justice finds that the registrant's

objections to combatant and [8] non-combatant serv-

ice are not sustained."

Document No. 6, if your Honor please, is merely

the record of appeal, which indicates that he ap-

pealed on May 19, 1952. On March 19, 1953, he was

classified by his appeal board 1-A, and he was so

notified by his local board on March 23, 1953.

Document No. 7, your Honor, is the order to re-

port for induction dated April 13, 1953, in which

he is ordered to report on April 28, 1953, at the

armed forces induction station in San Francisco.

Document No. 8, if your Honor please, is a letter

to the local board from the United States Attorney's

office dated June 1, 1953, which indicates that the

defendant was indicted on May 13, 1953, for re-

fusal to submit to induction.

Document No. 9, if your Honor please, dated

July 3, 1953, is a letter to the local board, again,

from the United States Attornej^'s office, indicating
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that the defendant was convicted on July 2, 1953,

for refusal to submit to induction.

Document No. 10, if your Honor please

The Court: Dated July 14, 1953?

Mr. Constine: Yes. That is, again, a letter from

the office of the United States Attorney to the local

board, indicating that United States District Judge

Monroe F. Friedman—that is, the former United

States District Judge Monroe Friedman, sentenced

the defendant to a term of 18 months in prison, and

that was on July 13, 1953. [9]

I might state that thereafter this defendant, your

Honor, on September 10, 1953, was classified 4-F,

inasmuch as he was in prison in the United States

Penitentiary.

The Court: Where does that appear?

Mr. Constine : Your Honor, it does not appear in

the file at that point, but by reference back you

would find after this letter the defendant was placed

in Class 4-F.

Document No. 11, dated December 6, 1954, is a

letter to the local board from the office of the U. S.

Attorney dated December 6, 1954, advising them

that the registrant was released from the United

States Penitentiary on March 24, 1954, and was

presently on parole. The letter states the parole of

this defendant would not expire until February 2,

1955.

I might state, your Honor, that after this letter

the registrant was on parole and was then classified

in February of 1955. It does not appear chronologi-

cally, but I will state, and T am sure counsel will
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agTee, in February, 1955, he was classified 1-A,

and this, I might say, your Honor, is the com-

mencement of the second proceeding for this de-

fendant.

Document No. 12 is really the commencement of

the defendant's file which is the basis of this

prosecution.

The Court : Dated February 11, 1955.

Mr. Constine : That is correct, your Honor. That

is when it was received by the local board. It is

dated FebiTiary 9th and was received February 11th.

It is the defendant's letter [10] to the local board.

It states as follows (reading)

:

'

' Gentlemen

:

^^This letter is in reply to your card of February

4, 1955. It seems I have once again been classified

1-A by your board."

And then he goes on to say (reading) :

^^I believe my sincerity as a conscientious objector

was thoroughly demonstrated by my previous course

of action ; and the records of the Watchtower Bible

and Tract Society of Brooklyn contain my activities

in this duly recognized religious organization."

He states as follows (reading) :

^' Since, therefore, I am a conscientious objector

and a duly ordained minister of religion, I hereby

request the withdrawal of Classification 1-A to be

substituted by my proper classification, namely,

4-D."

which is the ministerial classification.



United States of America 17

I might state, in effect, your Honor, this is his

letter of appeal from his classification of 1-A.

Document numbered 13 in your Honor's file

The Court: 11 February, 1955.

Mr. Constine: Yes, sir—is the Special Consci-

entious Objector Form received by the local board

on February 18, 1955. [11] It was sent on February

11, 1955. And I only call this to your Honor's at-

tention at the bottom of page 2 of that same docu-

ment there is listed this defendant's employments

from 1952 to 1955, indicating that the defendant

has held a number of jobs: Office clerk, mechanic,

salesman, mechanic-salesman, salesman, mechanic.

And it lists a number of his employers: Southern

Pacific, Western Pacific, Cardinal Chemical Com-

pany, City of Paris, ABC Weatherstrip Company,

Kirby Company of Central California, Davies Auto-

mobile Company, which apparently was his em-

ployer at the time this document was prepared.

Your Honor, Document No. 14 is the next docu-

ment I wish to call to your Honor's attention, and

that is a letter to the local board from the registrant

dated March 7, 1955. I wish to read the first para-

graph of that letter, which states as follows (read-

ing) :

^'I certainly do regret that this reply is tardy,

and sincerely hope it will not put you to any extra

trouble. I have been so busy compiling all my data

that the time passed by before I realized it. This

letter is in reply to your form concerning my ec-

clesiastical duties. Enclosed also please find (1)

notarized affidavit from Watchtower Bible and
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Tract Society, Inc.; (2) public lecture handbills;

(3) letters from other ministers, and (4) copies of

my ministerial [12] activities/'

The letter goes on to state what he does as a

minister. However, I wish to call to your Honor's

attention page 9 of this letter, this same letter,

which is numbered page 9. It is a rather long letter,

but I ask you to turn to page 9, your Honor.

The Court: Proceed.

Mr. Constine: An item which he has numbered

IV, he states as follows (reading) :

^^ Since we do not receive a salary, or are other-

wise reimbursed for our ministerial duties, it is

necessary (and scriptural) to work secularly to

earn a living. Being married, I have an obligation

before God to provide for my household, and this

is done through secular work. It is important to

note, however, the main reason for secular work is

to support my ministerial activities. I am now em-

ployed at Davies Auto Company in Redwood City,

working out in the garage. I previously had a sell-

ing job, but gave it up as it took up too much of my
time. I do not desire to make a lot of money, but

to work the minimum number of hours, that is, 40

hours a week. From this particular job I would earn

in a year about $3,400 gross. My plans for the

future are, of course, to enter the pioneer or [13]

full-time minister with my wife."

Your Honor, he says he plans in the future to

enter the pioneer or full-time ministry with his wife.

He concludes by saying he has some additional
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documents to be forwarded to the board at a later

date.

Document 15, yoiir Honor, was enclosed in this

letter that he sent. It is nimibered 15 by the slip

of paper, and it is a document dated February 16,

1955, issued by the Watchtower Bible and Tract

Society, indicating that this registrant was an as-

sistant presiding minister of the Menlo Park, Cali-

fornia, congregation of Jehovah's Witnesses since

Deceml)er 7, 1954.

Document 16, your Honor, is an interview sheet,

or information sheet dated on the last page April

13, 1955. It is numbered in your Honor's file No. 16.

It has the registrant's name on the top with his

selective service number, and I wish to read into the

record portions of this sheet (reading) :

^'When did you first become a member thereof?

Date baptized 4-17-52.

''Have you maintained your membership con-

tinuously therein since you first became a member?
Yes. Have been active in society work since that

date. A membership roll is not kept by this society."

Item B (reading) :

''What course of study were you required to [14]

complete before you were qualified to become a

minister? Course of study outlined by society. No
set time to prescribe the course. Depends upon

individual. Scripturally minister is not required to

attend theological seminary or divinity school.

Christ himself did not. Indi\ddual knows when he

is ready to serve the Lord and no one has to tell

him."
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And then he goes on to state he is still studying

in that course. (Reading:)

'^If a regular minister, are you recognized as

such by the Church?"

The answer is ^^Yes.'' (Reading:)

^'Are you legally qualified to perform marriage

ceremonies?''

And the answer is *^Yes." (Reading:)

^^If you are, how^ many marriages did you solemn-

ize in the last calendar year?"

The answer is ^^None." (Reading:)

^^Are you authorized by your church or religious

organization to conduct funeral services?"

He answers ^^Yes." (Reading:)

^^If you are, how many such funeral services did

you conduct in the last calendar year?"

He answers ^^None." And so on. [15]

He states on page 2 of that same document, your

Honor, that he holds services on Saturdays and

Sundays, and on Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday and

Friday evenings. He states he spends about 25

hours a week during the past 12 months in his

ministerial duties. He says he receives no pay.

He also states that he is employed by the Cardinal

Chemical Company, and that he worked 20 hours in

last week (reading) :

^^Have you been employed during the present

calendar year?"
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He states he has, and he names the Davies Auto

Company as his employer, and that he worked 40

hours per week.

I might state, your Honor, that after this infor-

mation sheet was given to the defendant he was

placed in Class 1-A by his board on April 13, 1955,

so Document 17 in your Honor's file is the letter of

the defendant dated April 18, 1955, in which he

states (reading) :

^'At this time your classification of 1-A was con-

tinued despite the facts in my file attesting to my
sincerity as a conscientious objector and my activi-

ties as a regular and duly ordained minister of

religion.
'

'

That is Document No. 17 in your Honor's file.

Document No. 17-A, as I have marked in your

Honor's file, is merely a certificate of acceptability

indicating that this defendant was re-examined, and

that he was still fomid, on [16] December 14, 1955,

as fully acceptable for induction into the armed

forces.

Document No. 18, your Honor, I wish to spend

some time with, inasmuch as this is perhaps the

most important document in the file. It is a letter

dated February 29, 1956. This is the letter of the

Department of Justice, the ultimate one, to the

Apx)eal Board. This is the second hearing of the

registrant before the Appeal Board. Inasmuch as

counsel's file may not be in the same order mine is,

may I assist him in locating the document, your

Honor? I call this document No. 18.
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This is, your Honor, the results of the hearing on

the second occasion for the new classification sub-

sequent to his imprisonment. It states, in the first

paragraph—I will read all of page 1 (reading) :

*'As required by Section 6 (j) of the Universal

Military Training and Service Act, as amended, an

inquiry was made by the Department of Justice in

the above-mentioned case and an opportunity to be

heard on his claim for exemption as a conscientious

objector was given to the registrant by Mr. Frank

O. Merritt, a Hearing Officer for the Department

of Justice.

^^The information obtained from the inquiry

and considered by the Department of Justice in ar-

riving at its recommendation is contained in the

resume of [17] the inquiry attached hereto and made

a part hereof.

^^The registrant will be 23 years of age on March

22, 1956 ; he is married, a high school graduate, and

attended college for about one and one-half years.

At the time of his hearing he was engaged in the

servicing of swimming pools, and has previously

worked as a general laborer, and with automobiles.

He is a Jehovah's Witness, and has claimed exemp-

tion from both combatant and non-combatant mili-

tary training and service.

^^Registrant's Selective Service File reflects that

his father is a protestant, his mother a Presbyterian,

and that he, the registrant, w^as formerly a member

of the Lutheran Church. He participated in

R.O.T.C. training while in attendance at college, but
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he indicated that this was prior to his becoming a

conscientious obj ector.
'

'

Then it goes on, your Honor, to state the history.

Well, I will read all of page 2 at this point (read-

ing) :

^'He indicated that he left college and the

R.O.T.C. organization because of his newly-adopted

views. It is also indicated that he came in contact

with Jehovah's Witnesses in about 1950 or 1951,

through his former fiancee, and that he was baptized

in the spring of 1952. He indicated that he has [18]

dedicated his life to serving Jehovah God and His

Son Christ Jesus."

The second paragraph reads as follows (read-

ing) :

^'The resume of the inquiry reflects that regis-

trant was found guilty of a violation of the Selec-

tive Service Act in July of 1953; that he was sen-

tenced to 18 months imprisonment ; that he was re-

leased from prison in March of 1954, and released

from parole in February of 1955.''

The third paragraph reads as follows (reading) :

*'The registrant personally appeared before the

Hearing Officer on August 23, 1955, at San Fran-

cisco, California. He submitted to the Hearing Offi-

cer"—certain documents, this letter states, and

(reading)

:

^^The Hearing Officer reported that registrant ad-

mitted receiving a copy of the resume of the in-

quiry, and that his objections thereto are outlined



24 Robert Lee Korte vs.

in the letter addressed to the Hearing Officer"—et

cetera.

I might state this, your Honor: Unlike cases we

have had in the past, the registrant now receives a

copy of the FBI report prior to his hearing, so that

any adverse material in it he may bring to the at-

tention of the Hearing Officer and contest. This

letter merely states he acknowledges receiving a

copy of this document. [19]

The Court: I have an appointment. We will

have to take a recess until two o'clock.

(Whereupon, a recess was taken until 2:00

o'clock p.m.) [19-A]

Monday, June 3, 1957—2:00 o 'Clock P.M.

Opening Statement on Behalf of the Plaintiff

(Resumed)

Mr. Constine: Your Honor, at the close of the

session this morning we were presenting the case of

United States against Korte, and advised your

Honor that this defendant had first been classified

1-A, had been ordered to report for induction, and

had refused, and had been indicted and sentenced

to a term of 18 months.

We were then in the course of presenting the

second phase of the case.

The second time around is on Document No. 18

in your Honor's file, which was the report of the

second hearing he had had before the Department

of Justice.
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The Court : Very well.

Mr. Constine : I was reading, your Honor.

The Court: This is February 29, 1956?

Mr. Constine: Yes, sir.

And I was reading from page 2 of that document

which I wish to complete this record (reading) :

^^The registrant personally appeared before

the Hearing Officer on August 23, 1955, at San

Francisco, California. He submitted to the

Hearing Officer three letters which are at-

tached. The Hearing Officer reported that regis-

trant admitted receiving [20] a copy of the

Resume of the Inquiry,"

and I might explain that that was the report of the

Federal Bureau investigation, and a resume of that

report is now given to all registrants (reading) :

^'The Hearing Officer also reported that registrant

stated that his religious background is that of a

Presbyterian, to which both of his parents belong,

and that early in life he attended Sunday School

of that denomination; that he became interested in

the work of the Jehovah's Witnesses in 1951, and

that his wife had been a Jehovah's Witness since

1941. He reported that registrant further stated

that from reading and studying the Bible, and as he

understood it, he is opposed to all wars except God's

wars; that he would defend himself and his family

if attacked; that he would not take a human life;

that he believed in obeying all laws of the Govern-

ment and wanted to be a law-abiding citizen, hwi
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that he is opposed to both combatant and non-

combatant military service.

^'The Hearing Officer conchided, from the facts

adduced at the hearing, consideration of the regis-

trant's entire file, his attitude, candor, and apparent

honesty, and his general [21] demeanor, that the

registrant is opposed to war in any form based upon

his religious training and belief ; that he is opposed

to both combatant and non-combatant training and

ser^dce; and, that he is sincere and has filed his

claim in good faith. Accordingly, the Hearing Of-

ficer recommended that the registrant's claim be

sustained."

And I might say the Department of Justice finds

that the registrant's claim is sustained and the De-

partment recommended that this registrant be

placed in Class 1-0, which is the conscientious

objector classification.

Your Honor, attached to that letter is the Re-

sume of the Inquiry, which follows right after the

last page of the letter.

The Court: Page 58.

Mr. Constine : That is right, your Honor. And I

wish to read from the last paragraph on page 1 on

that 58 (reading) :

'^The registrant has been employed by the West-

ern Pacific Eailroad, Cardinal Chemical Compan}^,

the City of Paris Department Store, ABC Weather-

stripping Company, Kirby and Company of Cen-

tral California, and the Davies Chevrolet Company.

The registrant's w^ork record is highly satisfactory."
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I wish also to read, your Honor, from page 4 of

that same resume, which would be, at the upper

right-hand corner, 61.

The Court: I have it. [22]

Mr. Constine: The first paragraph, your Honor,

is as follows (reading) :

^^A member of the Jehovah's Witnesses at Menlo

Park, California, advised that the registrant is very

active and serious in the Witness work, and is As-

sistant Congregational Servant at the Menlo Park

Kingdom Hall. The interviewee said that the regis-

trant has an excellent record as a Pioneer and never

misses a Witness meeting, and is also active as an

Area Study Conductor. He stated that the registrant

accepts any church assignment willingly, and, in his

opinion, must have had a very strong attitude and

conviction of conscientious objection to have orig-

inally made such a claim and served in a peniten-

tiary.
'

'

I call your Honor's attention particularly to the

next sentence (reading) :

''The Congregational Servant of the Jehovah's

Witnesses at Menlo Park advised that he has known
the registrant for six or seven months. His records

show that the registrant served as a Pioneer from

December, 1952, through August, 1954. The Servant

stated that the registrant presently spends from

thirty-eight to forty hours per month in Jehovah's

Witnesses' work." [23]

The next paragraph reads (reading) :
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^'The School Servant and Record Clerk of the

Watchtower Bible and Tract Society, Brooklyn,

New York, advised that the registrant was ordained

as a minister in the Jehovah's Witnesses on April

17, 1952, and served as a Pioneer from December 1,

1952, until August 1, 1953, and from April 1, 1954,

to August 1,1954/'

It goes on to say (reading) :

^^The Servant made the registrant's record avail-

able, which reflects that the registrant devoted con-

siderably more than 100 hours per month to his

activities."

I will next call your Honor's attention to Docu-

ment No. 19.

The Court : Dated March 9, 1956.

Mr. Constine: I have April 4, 1956, Document

No. 19, unless I am in error.

The Court : Document No. 19 is April 4, 1956.

Mr. Constine : Yes, sir. That is a letter to the Se-

lective Service System from the defendant, in which

he says (reading) :

'^This is in reply to your letter of March 9, 1956

(which included a recommendation from the De-

partment of Justice and the FBI Resume Report)."

He goes on to state he appreciates the time and

effort expended (reading) : [24]

^'However, as my entire file reflects, the classifi-

cation to which I am entitled is 4-D, a minister's

classification."
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Then he goes on and states his reasons for desir-

ing the 4-D classification.

*'I am both a conscientious objector and a minis-

ter, and I do not see why this has been consistently

overlooked in this whole investigation.

^'I find, therefore, that I cannot conscientiously

accept a 1-0 classification, and I hereby appeal this

classification if the 1-0 classification is continued

and if I am ordered to report for a government job

I shall have to refuse.''

Your Honor, we note that the defendant, in this

letter, does not dispute the statement in the FBI
report that at the time of the hearing he was spend-

ing but 30 to 40 hours a month as a Jehovah 's Wit-

ness.

Mr. Constine : I will call your attention, if your

Honor please, to Document No. 20, in which it is

indicated that the Appeal Board, on July 20, 1956,

placed this defendant in Classification 1-0, which

is the conscientious objector classification. He was

notified of that fact on July 26th. However, he re-

ceived the classification on July 20, 1956—the 1-0

classification.

Document 21, your Honor, is a letter dated Au-

gust 1, 1956, [25] from the registrant, the defendant,

to his local board, in which he states in part (read-

ing) :

''I find, therefore, that I cannot conscientiously

accept a 1-0 classification, and I hereby appeal this

classification. If this classification (1-0) is con-
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tinued and I am ordered to report for a government

job I shall have to refuse."

And then he states at the bottom of this letter

(reading)

:

^'1 would appreciate hearing from you as to how

long it will be before I am to be arrested, as I w^ould

like to notify my employer, my attorney, and

straighten out my other personal affairs."

Document 22, your Honor, is another letter from

the defendant to his local board, dated August 5,

1956, and received by his local board—I made a mis-

take ; excuse me.

The Court: August 31, 1956, Local Board No. 40.

Mr. Gonstine: My file is in error here, your

Honor. Document 22, as I believe it is marked in

your Honor's file, should be a letter dated August

29, 1956.

The Court: 22?

Mr. Constine : Yes—which it is. Document No. 22.

The Court : Docimient 22, August 1, 1956 ?

Mr. Constine: I believe it is August 29, your

Honor, 1956, received August 31st—Document 22.

The Court : Document 22 is August 29th. [26]

Mr. Constine: Yes, sir.

This letter is addressed from the defendant to his

local board, in which he states that he did not check

any of the preferences—that is, preferences for

jobs (reading)

:

'
• > '^ '

'

'
* * ^ on the opposite i)age, because I do not wish

to engage in any conscientious objector program.
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In many of my previous letters I have stated if I

were offered such jobs I could not conscientiously

accept them.

^^As I have already stated before your board, and

as my file shows, I am an ordained minister of a

recognized religious organization. Therefore, my
proper classification is not 1-0, but is 4-D. I will

not compromise my personal principles to the extent

which your board proposes. I cannot understand,

gentlemen, why it is so difficult for you to under-

stand that I am not only a conscientious objector,

but also a minister of religion.''

Document 23 is the next letter 1 wish to call to

your Honor's attention.

The Court : That is dated September 26, 1956.

Mr. Constine: Yes, your Honor. It is addressed

to the local board from Selective Service headquar-

ters at Sacramento, and it is the two letters directly

following this in the file that I wish your Honor to

examine. They are not numbered, but [27] it is di-

rectly after this in the file.

The first is a letter to the Jehovah's Witnesses in

Brooklyn, New York, from the Selective Service,

asking information concerning this defendant's

Pioneer work, and the next letter is a copy of a

letter received by the California headquarters, which

is dated September 19, 1956, and reads in part as

follows (reading) :

''Mr. Korte was in the pioneer service in 1952,

1953, and 1954. However, because of obligations re-

quiring greater financial remuneration, it was neces-
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saiy for him to leave the pioneer service. He is now

serving as Assistant Congregation Servant of the

Menlo Park, California, Congregation of Jehovah's

Witnesses and our Certificate for Servant in Con-

gregation of February 15, 1955, covering this man's

ministerial activity still applies."

And they refer to the previous certificate on file.

In Document 24, your Honor, is a resume of a

hearing before the local board on October 18, 1956.

The purpose of this hearing was to determine what

type of civilian work the defendant would accept in

lieu of induction, and I wish to read to your Honor,

if you will permit me, a short resume of some of the

questions and answers that were given (reading) :

^^ Question: Mr. Korte, you understand that I am
representing the State Director and that this [28]

meeting was called to try to reach an agreement be-

tween you and the Local Board as to the type of

civilian work you are to perform in your present

1-0 classification?"

And he answers, ^^Yes."

Then he answers that he received the regular

form for Class 1-0 registrants, and he says yes

(reading) :

^'Question: The Local Board submitted a letter

to you offering you three different types of work,

and this is your reason for nonacceptance written

on the back of the Board's letter?

'*Answer: Yes.
??



United States of America 33

And that reason, if your Honor please, was one

of the documents I last read to you (reading) :

'* Question: Is there any reason, such as physical,

that you cannot accept approved civilian work'?

^*Answer: No.

^'What is your reason for not accepting? Is it

due to your religious code ?

^'Answer : No ; my personal feeling, or, you might

say, mental ; also Code of the Bible.

'^Question: We have numerous positions avail-

able (registrant shown list of available positions).

Would you care to peruse the list of available work %

'^Answer: I would not be interested. My [29]

duties revolve around the Bible.

^^ Question: Are we to understand by your an-

swers that you are in no position to accept employ-

ment?

^'Answer: Yes.

'^ Question: What kind of work are you doing at

the present time %

'* Answer: I am at the present time doing main-

tenance work at a swimming pool."

The second page, yowT Honor (reading) :

^'Question: Could you not continue to do this

type of work if ordered to do so ?

^^ Answer: Yes, but I could not compromise my
position at this time to do so.

^'Question: You have been offered all your

rights, personal appearance, appeal, appearance be-

fore a Hearing Officer; at this meeting your classi-
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fication does not enter into it. We are only here to

reach an agreement as to the type of work you will

accept. From your remarks, are you declining to ac-

cept any of the positions offered to you?

^'Answer: Yes."

Then it is indicated that he signed a statement to

that effect.

May it please your Honor, Document No. 25 in

your Honor's file, is the order to report for civilian

work. It is dated [30] November 14, 1956, and it

ordered the defendant to report to his local board

at 9 :00 a.m. on the 26th day of November, 1956, and

advises him that he has been assigned to work at

the Los Angeles Department of Charities, located

at Los Angeles, California. This is an order to report

for civilian work in lieu of induction.

Document No. 26 is the last document I wish to

call to your Honor's attention. It is a memorandum

dated November 26, 1956.

The Court : It is dated what ?

Mr. Constine: November 26, 1956. This memo-

randum, your Honor, indicates that the defendant

did not appear at his local board on the date speci-

fied to receive instructions to report for civilian

work in lieu of induction.

The Court: In other words, he didn't appear in

Los Angeles?

Mr. Constine: He didn't appear. He is ordered,

your Honor, to appear at his local board. He didn't

appear there or at Los Angeles.

In closing, your Honor, we will merely state that
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the record clearly indicates he was classified as a

conscientious objector. The Appeal Board so held.

He was classified 1-0 as a conscientious objector,

but he has refused to accept civilian work in lieu

of induction.

I will merely point out that the civilian work pro-

gram [31] has been upheld by your Honor in United

States versus Niles that proceeded to the Supreme

Court, and certiorari was denied. That is a land-

mark case in which your Honor upheld the con-

stitutionality of the Act. And we submit on that

case that the defendant is guilty of the offense

charged.

Mr. Wertheimer: May it please your Honor, at

this time now comes the Defendant Robert Korte

and moves for a judgment of acquittal. The undis-

puted evidence, your Honor, we feel indicates that

the defendant is not guilty as charged.

The record you have before you reveals that on

July 20, 1956, Mr. Korte was classified 1-0, con-

scientious objector, by the appeal board. At this

time he was denied the 4-P classification required by

Selective Service Regulation 1622.2, and more spe-

cifically by 1622.44. And I should like to read Para-

graph C of that regulation, your Honor (reading) :

'^ Class 4-F. Physically, mentally or morally un-

fit.

'^1622.44 of the Selective Service Regulations.

^'In Class 4-P shall be placed any registrant.

'^(C) Who has been convicted of a criminal

offense which may be punished by death or by im-

prisonment for a term exceeding one year and who
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is not eligible for classification into a class available

for service."

The classification by the Appeal Board on July

20, 1956, [32] we believe to be without basis in fact,

to be arbitrary and capricious, and contrary to law.

But actually, the undisputed evidence has shown, as

reported by opposing counsel, that Mr. Korte did

serve a sentence for a felony, was convicted for a

period of longer than one year, and therefore would

fulfill the requisites of the Selective Service regu-

lation to be classified as 4-F.

The Act itself, the 1948 Selective Service Act,

Paragraph M, reads (reading) :

'^No person shall be relieved from training under

this title by reason of conviction of a criminal of-

fense except where the offense of which he has been

convicted may be punished by death or by imprison-

ment for a term exceeding one year.''

Therefore, the final assignment and order in the

case of the Defendant Mr. Korte to do civilian work

is void.

The second point, your Honor, in our motion for

judgment of acquittal, is that the action of the Ap-

peal Board on July 20, 1956, was arbitrary and ca-

pricious and contrary to law in that they did not

follow the actual Selective Service regulations as

defined in Section 1623.2. I read from the regula-

tions (reading) :

^^1623.2. Consideration of Classes.

*^ Every registrant shall be placed in Class 1-A

under the provisions of Section 1622.10 of this [33]

chapter except for classifications which are estab-
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lished to place a registrant in one or more of the

classes listed in the following table, the registrant

shall be classified in the lowest class for which he is

determined to be eligible, with Class 1-A-O con-

sidered the highest class, and Class 1-C considered

the lowest class, according to the following table:"

and there follows the table beginning at Class 1-A-O

and going dow^n to 1-C.

In this, the Appeal Board failed to follow this

particular regulation by coming up from the bottom,

for had they come up from the bottom they would

have gone 1-C, 1-WV-A, 4-P, and Mr. Korte would

have been classified 4-F. But, instead, to the con-

trary, they started at the top, 1-AO, and then classi-

fied him in the next category, 1-0, conscientious ob-

jector. This, we feel, ignored the 4-P classification

entirely, and is contrary to 1623.2 of the regulations.

Thus, the resulting classification was arbitrary and

capricious, and without basis for and contrary to

law. Therefore, we feel that it is void.

A third basis for a judgment of acquittal, your

Honor, is the fact that, w^hile Mr. Constine failed

to indicate it, in one of the documents in the file a

waiver was given by the armed forces to Mr. Korte,

and it is attached to a document dated September 9,

1955. We believe that

The Couil:: Pardon me. Is that document in evi-

denced [34]

Mr. Wertheimer: It is in evidence, but it was

not pointed out by Mr. Constine. There is a waiver

on the DD 47 form, I believe, and the waiver states
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that Mr. Korte is eligible for the Army, the Navy,

or the Marine Corps.

In our motion for acquittal at this time we say

that it is not sufficient to make the defendant liable

for civilian work, and that the waiver which is found

in the documents in the file is not provided for either

in the Act or the Regulation ; that the civilian direc-

tion can be avoided, and that the armed forces may
waive a disqualification for a place in civilian em-

ployment is without basis of fact and is arbitrary

and capricious. It is our feeling that this waiver is

good only, as indicated by the document itself, for

military service, and therefore the final order which

commands the defendant to report to the Los An-

geles Charities is void.

On the basis of our motion for acquittal, your

Honor, the fourth point we wish to raise is that the

Selective Service File failed to contain any waiver

of the conviction of the felony from the Los Angeles

Charities Department. There is nothing in the file

to show that the defendant is acceptable to the Chari-

ties, and, notwithstanding his conviction, there is no

legal basis for him to be ordered to report to Los

Angeles after being convicted of a felony.

Thus, in brief summary, our motion for acquittal

is based, first, on the fact that he served time—eight

months, to be [35] exact—for a felony; that on the

basis of the regulations and the Act this would pro-

vide him, according to the regulation I read, for 4-F

classification

;

Secondly, had the classification schedule been fol-

lowed, they would have begun at the bottom and go



United States of America 39

up to the 4-F, not beginning at 1-AO and going down

to the 1-0 rating

;

Thirdly, considering the waiver, had this been an

effective waiver, as it is for the armed forces, cer-

tainly he should have gone back into the armed

forces; but on July 20, your Honor, he was not a

member of the armed forces. Therefore the waiver

is ineffective and there is no basis for it

;

And lastly, our point is that there is no waiver by

the Los Angeles Department of Charities itself, say-

ing that Mr. Korte, the defendant, might proceed

there, and therefore the order is void.

It is on these four bases we move for a judgment

of acquittal at this time.

(Whereupon followed argument of counsel

not ordered transcribed in this record.)

The Court: May I inquire, for the purpose of

the record, are you going to put on any other de-

fense ?

Mr. Wertheimer: After you rule on the motion

we would like to put on a little bit of evidence, your

Honor, if it is necessary.

The Court: For the purpose of the record, at this

time I [36] will deny j^our motion, so you will have

a full record.

Mr. Wertheimer: Will you take the stand?
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ROBERT LEE KORTE, JR.

the defendant, was called as a witness in his own be-

half, and after being first duly sworn, testified as

follows

:

By the Court:

Q. Your full name, please.

A. Robert Lee Korte, Jr.

Q. Where do you live?

A. In Menlo Park, California.

Q. What is the address ?

A. 727 Cedar Street.

Q. What is your business or occupation?

A. Well, my vocation is that of a minister, sir.

Q. Well, you have been employed during this pe-

riod, have you ?

A. I now have a secular job with a swimming

pool company, part-time work.

Q. Where? A. In Redwood City.

Q. Redwood City? A. Yes.

Q. And how old are you ? A. Twenty-four.

Q. Twenty-four years of age. You have already

been committed? A. Yes, your Honor. [37]

' Q. And when were you committed?

A. That was back in about 1953, I believe.

Q. '53? A. Yes.

Q. Who committed you? This Department here—
this Court here ?

A. It was the Federal Court, yes, in San Fran-

cisco.

Q. What time did you serve?

A. I served eight months of eighteen months.
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(Testimony of Robert Lee Korte, Jr.)

Q. And did you have any difficulty adjusting

yourself there? A. Well, a little bit at first.

The Court: Take the witness.

Direct Examination

By Mr. Wertheimer:

Q. Since we are on the subject, regarding your

term at McNeil Island—well, I will read from the

file—you might indicate to the judge what sort of

work you did while you were in prison.

A. Well, we started out on the farm crew. We
worked picking peaches, pears, and et cetera, from

trees, and then when you have worked there for

awhile, of course, you are eligible for better jobs,

and eventually I was on the dairy crew, which was

really quite interesting, how to milk cows, and so

forth. And that was the employment that we had

there.

The officials at McNeil were very co-operative in

the sense that there were a number of my brothers

there—Christian [38] brothers—so they permitted

us to have our regular meetings during the week in

our own barracks. And so that is why most of our

recreational time was spent in studying to further

our vocational

The Court: You say you are employed at the

present time in Redwood City?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. What is your salary there?

A. I make about—well, I work about ten days a
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(Testimony of Robert Lee Korte, Jr.)

month and make about, roughly, $16.00 a day, so it

would be about $160 a month.

Q. Who is at home with you?

A. My wife.

Q. How long have you been married?

A. About three years.

Q. Any family? A. No, your Honor.

Q. And how long have you been working at Red-

wood City?

A. Well, since I moved down there; it has been

about four years, I guess.

The Court: Proceed, counsel.

Q. (By Mr. Wertheimer) : Where did you

attend high school?

A. San Francisco, Polytechnic High School.

Q. Did you have any honors while you were in

high school?

A. You mean jobs in the school? [39]

Q. I just wanted to indicate your high school

record, being one where Robert Korte was student

body president at Poly High School.

Mr. Constine : May it please your Honor, for the

record, I must interpose an objection, as this would

be irrelevant, immaterial and incompetent, so far as

the trial is concerned. However, I do not want to

prevent the defendant from saying whatever he

wishes to say in court. For the purpose of the record

may I interpose an objection to any testimony not

contained in the file?

The Court: Tt will be overruled.
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(Testimony of Robert Lee Korte, Jr.)

Mr. Constine : Thank you.

Q. (By Mr. Wertheimer) : While you were in

Poly High School you were president of the student

body. What sports activities were you involved in at

that time ?

A. I played on the basketball team and tried out

for the baseball team and didn't make it.

Q. You were a basketball player at Poly. Did

you attend college, Mr. Korte ? A. Yes, I did.

Q. And where did you go to college?

A. University of California.

Q. And how long were you there?

A. About a year and a half.

Q. In the years 1952, 1953 and 1954, were you

actually [40] spending full time as a minister?

A. Yes; one of the requirements of the Watch-

tower Society is that

Q. Speak up.

A. One of the requirements of the Watchtower

Society is before you can enter the full-time ministry

you have to show by your past actions that you are

capable of holding that job. And so no one is allowed

to enter the full-time ministry until they have been

associated for about six months. At the end of that

time, why, I did enter the full-time ministry, and I

stayed in it until near the end of 1954.

Q. You were classified as a Pioneer at that time ?

A. That is correct.

Q. Would you tell his Honor what a Pioneer is ?

A. Well, a Pioneer is a title used by the Society

to designate one whose vocation is the ministry, and
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(Testimony of Robert Lee Korte, Jr.)

who spends in the actual ministry activity preaching,

delivering funerals and weddings, visiting the sick,

and so forth, a minimum of 100 hours a month. This,

of course, then requires outside study which cannot

be counted as preaching time. You usually spend

another, anywhere from 45 to 50 hours a month in

preparing discourses, time going to and from con-

ventions, and things like that.

Q. At the time of the 1-0 classification in July,

1956, you were not a Pioneer, is that correct? [41]

A. That is correct.

Q. But were you to be classified now, and was

this to be a void classification, regarding your work

at present, are you a Pioneer at present?

A. Yes, I am.

Q. And how many hours per month are you put-

ting in in your vocation? A. One hundred.

Q. And does that include hours of study?

A. No, it does not.

Q. Would you tell his Honor approximately how

many hours of study and actual work as a minister

you put in per month at the present time?

A. I am what they call the assistant presiding

minister of our Menlo Park congregation, which

means if anything drastic happens to the presiding

minister, why, I would take over his obligations.

There are many records that have to be kept and

oversight of particular duties that have to be done,

and plus my outside study I would say between 15

and 25 hours a week are spent in outside study and

taking care of congregation business.
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(Testimony of Robert Lee Korte, Jr.)

Q. At present you are able to perform marriages

and officiate at funerals, is that correct?

A. Correct.

Q. You are the assistant presiding minister and

you are a [42] Pioneer at the present time ?

A. That is correct.

Mr. Korte, did you keep the Board informed dur-

ing all of your relations and all of your movements

and activities? A. Yes, I did.

Q. And, Mr. Korte, have you ever received a

waiver from the Los Angeles Department of Chari-

ties?

Mr. Constine: I will object to that as incompe-

tent, inmaaterial and irrelevant, your Honor,

whether he received a waiver from the Department

of Charities. There must be a foundation laid that

they are required to submit such a waiver.

Mr. Wertheimer : I will be glad to attempt to lay

a foundation, your Honor.

The Court: Sustained.

Mr. Wertheimer: Excuse me, your Honor.

The Court: Sustained, counsel.

Q. (By Mr. Wertheimer) : Were you ever ex-

amined by the Los Angeles Department of Charities ?

Mr. Constine : Objected to as immaterial, irrele-

vant and incompetent. He is assigned to work by the

Selective Service.

The Court: Objection sustained.

Mr. Wertheimer: I would like to read a few

statements from the file, your Honor.
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(Testimony of Robert Lee Korte, Jr.)

Mr. Constine: Are you going to ask him ques-

tions ?

Mr. Wertheimer: I am. [43]

Q. Are you familiar with the document of

waiver dated 8 December, 1955, when you were

cleared for the Army, the Navy and the Marine

Corps, Mr. Korte?

A. Yes, I have seen it two or three times.

Q. And you did receive notice of this waiver?

A. I believe so.

Mr. Wertheimer: I would like to read, your

Honor, briefly, into the record, from the FBI report,

on page 4 (reading) :

^*In July, 1953, the registrant was found guilty

of violation of the Selective Service Act and was

sentenced to 18 months imprisonment. The regis-

trant's sentence was stayed until August 3, 1953, so

that he could attend the International Conference

of Jehovah's Witnesses at New York City. The reg-

istrant was paroled from McNeil Island on March

24, 1954. The registrant was due to be released on

April 15, 1954, but he earned 22 days for good be-

havior. His parole was terminated on February 2,

1955. The registrant's prison and parole records are

good and reflect that the registrant was in no diffi-

culty, and that he appeared to be a law^-abiding citi-

zen, and that his future adjustment would be good."

From that same document, I believe it indicates

his early history, which was omitted when counsel

read from the same document (reading) : [44]

*^The registrant attended Polytechnic High School
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at San Francisco, California, from February, 1947,

to February, 1951, at which time he was graduated.

School records reflect that the registrant was an

above-average student ; that he was a member of the

basketball team and president of the student body

during his senior year."

Counsel from the government also read from an

interrogatory dated October 18, 1956. It should be

pointed out that the record also contains a note at

the bottom, your Honor, saying that (reading) :

^'The foregoing was compiled from notes taken

during the meeting and is not intended to be ver-

batim.
'

'

only to give the sense. I indicate this at this time

because when Mr. Constine read the question I think

there was some lack of clarity in it. He read (read-

ing) :

^^ Could you not continue to do this type of work

if ordered to do so?"

referring to cleaning swimming pools, the work he

is doing now.

Mr. Korte answered at that time (reading)

:

^^Yes, but I could not compromise my position at

this time to do so."

This being not verbatim did not actually reflect

what Mr. Korte informs me was in his mind at

the time, and while he is [45] on the stand I would

like him to explain briefly to his Honor as far as the

type of work that you would be involved in, were you

given the opportunity to do so
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Q. Would you continue, et cetera?

A. The way the question was asked, he asked

what I was doing at present to support myself, secu-

larly. I mentioned I was doing maintenance work in

relation to swimming pools. So then he mentioned as

to whether or not I would like to continue doing

maintenance work if I was ordered to do so by the

local board, or by any appeal board of the govern-

ment. And my thought on that was that the mainte-

nance work he had in mind was what they had been

talking about all along, was that of a helper of some

type in the Department of Charities in Los Angeles^

or some place else. And so I said—what I meant to

say was no, I wouldn't do that; I wouldn't take care

of something in a government institution some place.

I would be willing to stay in the swimming pool

business, as far as that goes, but

The Court: Would you be willing, if you had an

opportunity, to comply with the law in that respect ?

A. Well, only in the sense that I couldn't go be-

yond my principles, because since I am a minister,

at least in the eyes of myself, of God and our So-

ciety, why, if I am forced to give up that position

through government order, to compromise no, I

couldn't do that conscientiously. [46]

The Court: Well, I will say for your benefit, so

that 3^ou may think about it, at least, without com-

mitting myself definitely, this record discloses that

unless you are willing and able to avail yourself of

that opportunity, my duty is clear. But I will give

counsel an opportunity to disabuse my mind of that
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at the proper time, so you build up your record so

you will have a proper record.

The Court: Proceed.

Mr. Wertheimer : I have no further questions at

this time, your Honor.

Mr. Constine: I just have a very few. I wanted

to ask just a few questions.

Cross-Examination

By Mr. Constine

:

Q. Mr. Korte, you stated that you served 18

months at McNeil Penitentiary?

A. No; I was sentenced to 18. I sei*ved about

eight.

Q. About eight months ? A. Yes.

Q. Mr. Korte, in April—^between April and July,

1956, when you were classified 1-0, you were at that

time performing about 40 hours a week secular em-

ployment, is that correct? A. That is correct.

Q. In other words, about eight hours a day, five

days a week ? A. Correct.

Q. And that was a job you were receiving a

salary for at that [47] time ? A. Correct.

Q. And you advised the draft board of that fact,

is that true? A. Yes.

Q. And you were not a so-called Pioneer minister

at that time, were you? A. No, I was not.

Q. In fact, you, through responsibilities, were

not able to devote as much time to Jehovah's Wit-

ness activities as you had previously?

A. That's true.
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Q. So then when you were classified 1-0 in July,

1956, you did have at least secular employment that

averaged about 40 hours a week"? A. Yes.

Q. Now% may I ask you this question : Would you

not be able at the present time to perform work in

some charitable hospital or institution not run by

the government, but say by a county or city, or by

some charitable organization^

A. Well, the way I understand this is that this

would be in lieu of induction for the purpose of per-

forming a job that would be of benefit in some way

to the County, the State, or the Federal Government,

and I feel that my position of acting as a minister

in my own particular commimity and locality is [48]

of far greater importance, ministering to the spirit-

ual welfare of the people in that community, than

to work some jjlace in a hospital as a helper, or what-

ever it might be.

Q. But if the Selective Service System, as it has

here, has failed to recognize your ministerial classi-

fication, and you say, yourself, at the time you were

classified you had a full-time job, could you not bene-

fit mankind by ministering to the sick or the men-

tally ill ? Could you not find that within your prin-

ciples to perform? For example, work in a mental

institution, or helping people who are ill, rather than

serving the military"? Would that compromise your

principles too much to do so?

A. Yes, I believe it would.

Q. And you say at the present time you are a

Pioneer, as of this date? A. That is correct.
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Q. You haven 't advised your draft board of that ?

A. I don't believe so. It has only been about two

months, now.

Q. Two months ? A. Yes.

Q. Since you were indicted?

A. I think so.

Q. You were indicted in March, '57 ?

A. Yes. I began April 1st.

Q. Subsequent to your indictment? [49]

A. Correct.

Q. Up to that time you were performing approx-

imately 40 hours a week, would you say, secular em-

ployment? A. Yes.

Q. However, subsequent to your indictment you

gave up a portion of your secular employment?

A. Well, my attitude all along—I think it was

stated many times in the file—that as soon as we were

able financially for either my wife or myself to re-

enter the full-time ministry, that's what we would

do. We neglected entering before because of this

reason—although I will admit it looks very coinci-

dental that I began my Pioneer work after my in-

dictment, and that is not meant to be that way. I

would rather that not even be taken into considera-

tion, that I am a full-time minister now, in this

sense, because the way I have felt about it is that if

I just kept putting off and putting it off because of

what we are going through with the government

here, why, I might never get back into it. So even

though it is only for a month or two, I miglit just

as well take advantage of it. ...,,..„,-.
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Q. So it is fair to say that at the time you were

classified by the board, at the time you answered the

questionnaire, and at the time of the FBI investiga-

tion, you were not a full-time minister at that time ?

A. No, I wasn't. [50]

Q. And your vocation was that of certain secular

work
;
you were doing your religious work at what-

ever time was left in the evening, is that the situa-

tion?

A. Well, the way I view what a vocation is, to

me a person's vocation is a person's life work. My
life work is the ministry, whether it is 40 hours a

week or four million ; that still is my vocation. And
secular activities I would view as my vocation, al-

though you might disagree. In the early days of this

country when the pioneers were moving westward,

the ministers that went with them worked generally

six days a week to support themselves, because their

flocks couldn't support them, and on the seventh day

they were ministers.

The Court: What year was that?

A. It was quite some time back. I guess it was

in the 1800 's.

Q. Things have changed.

A. Yes, that's true.

Q. (By Mr. Constine) : Some of these same

ministers were not opposed necessarily to war in any

form in the example that you give where ministers

worked

Mr. Wertheimer: I object to the question, your

Honor, as argumentative.
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Mr. Constine : I will withdraw it, your Honor. I

have no further questions.

The Court: You may proceed. [51]

Redirect Examination

By Mr. Wertheimer:

Q. You were in the full-time ministry in what

years, Mr. Korte^

A. In 1952, 1953, 1954 and presently.

Q. You are presently in the full-time ministry?

A. Yes. I might explain, at the moment, if I

might, the reason this wasn't continued through was,

and it is not the policy of our organization to give

financial remuneration to its ministers. We serve

voluntarily. So it is alw^ays necessary to have some

type of employment to support ourselves and to sup-

port our ministry. Otherwise we would spend all

our time in the ministry. But we have families, and

scripturally our obligations are to our families to

keep them clothed and fed, and so forth.

Q. But at the present time your major occupa-

tion is that of a Pioneer? A. Yes.

Q. And how many hours did you indicate, includ-

ing study and service, are you putting in at present?

A. Oh, at least 150 a month.

Mr. Wertheimer : I have no further questions at

this time.

Mr. Constine: I have no further questions.

The Court: What does your family consist of?

A. My wife and myself.

Q. Are your father and mother living? [52]
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A. Yes, they are.

Q. Where are they located?

A. They live in San Francisco.

Q. What is the business or occupation of your

father?

A. I don't know, your Honor; I haven't seen

him for about three years.

Q. Why?
A. I haven't seen him for about three years.

Q. What was his business or occupation ?

A. Well, the last job that I remember that he

had held for quite some time, he worked with Shell

Oil Company in San Francisco.

Q. In what capacity?

A. Accountant, I think he was.

Q. Did you have any discussion of religion with

him? A. I attempted to, yes.

Q. With what result?

A. Negative. He was very narrow minded along

certain lines.

Q. Why?
A. I say he was very narrow-minded alone: cer-

tain lines. ,

Q. I am not prepared to say that you are not a

pretty good match for him in that respect. You sit

there and indicate how the things should be arranged

and under what conditions, and you are sitting in

judgment as against all these investigations, and

the law, itself. [53] , ,
A. My only

Q. Your state of mind is contrary to every phase

of the law, itself. ' ''
i

-. '
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A. My only answer to that, your Honor, would

be to call to your Honor's attention a like situation

that arose quite some time back when St. Peter was

engaged in his ministry activity, and he and his fol-

lowers were brought before the Jewish Supreme

Court and were told that they were to stop teaching

on the basis of this name because they were going

around disrupting everything, and they disagreed

with everything.

Q. But the law was passed to take care of those

who didn't want to participate physically in war,

and they spelled out a program for everybody, keep-

ing in mind all conditions as available. You wouldn't

have to do anything; only be of assistance to those

that need some help—hospitals, and such work

—

and you serve your time, and you owe that to your

country the same as everyone else does, no matter

what the religion. Boys that went on and paid the

supreme sacrifice are to be thought of.

However, the reason I am talking to you, you have

had an education. You have a mental capacity to

realize fully the situation you are confronted with,

and I would very much like to help you if you would

give me an opportunity. If you don't, I can state to

you my duty seems to be clear. Not because I am
anxious to commit anyone to prison—I would sooner

do [54] otherwise—but if there is nothing left for me
to do, I shall have to do my duty in that respect.

You had better think about it, and step down.

A. Thank you, your Honor.

(Witness excused.)
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Mr. Wertheimer: That closes the defendant's

case, your Honor.

I would like to make a motion at this time.

The Court: You may.

Mr. Wertheimer: May it please the Court, the

e\ddence as presented by the government and by the

defendant indicates that the defendant is not guilty

as charged; that the classification by the appeal

board on July 20, 1956, was arbitrary and capricious,

and contrary to law, in that it ignored the section of

the Selective Service Regulation 1622.44 defining

the 4-F classification. Subparagraph (c) ; that this

determination in July of 1956 was improper and

without basis in fact, because the evidence has shown

that the defendant has been convicted of a felony

and had served time in a federal penitentiary, and

therefore the 1-0 classification was arbitrary and

capricious, contrary to law, and contrary to the

Selective Service Act of 1948, Section 456, Subsec-

sion (m), indicating that no person shall be relieved

from training under the title by reason of a convic-

tion of a criminal offense except where the offense

is punishable by death or by imprisonment for

more [55] than one year. Therefore, the final order

to a civilian to do civilian work is void.

Secondly, our motion for acquittal is based on the

fact that at the time of the 1-0 classification in July

of 1956, the classification procedure commanded by

the regulations under 1623.2 indicates that the

appeal board failed to come up from the bottom of

the list, from 1-C to Classification 4-F, but on the
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contrary, went down the list from 1-AO to 1-0, con-

scientious objector.

The Court: I don't follow that process of reason-

ing clearly. You might elaborate on that.

Mr. Wertheimer: All right, your Honor.

In Section 1623.2 of the Regulations

Mr. Constine : May it please your Honor, we will

concede this fact—this is what counsel is saying: A
man is entitled to the highest classification. For ex-

ample, if the draft board classifies a man 1-0, a con-

scientious objector, and at the time he is a full-time

minister and entitled to the 4-D classification, he

should receive the 4-D classification, or as counsel

points out, he has been convicted of a felony, he is

entitled to the 4-F classification. If he is entitled to

a higher classification, he should receive the highest

classification—that is, assuming he is entitled to that

particular classification. If it is conceded for the

purpose of the argument that the man is a full-time

minister and a [56] conscientious objector, he should

be classified as a full-time minister. I think that is

what counsel stated.

Mr. Wertheimer : Not quite. I would like to read

the regulations.

The Court: You may.

Mr. Wertheimer: So the record is clear, again.

1623.2 of the Regulations states (reading) :

^^Consideration of Classes.

^^Every registrant shall be placed in Class 1-A

under the provisions of 1522.1 of this Chapter exce})t

where grounds are established to place the registrant

in one or more of the classes listed in the following
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table, the registrant shall be classified in the lowest

class for which he is determined to be eligible"

the lowest class (reading) :

'^with Class 1-AO considered the highest class.

and Class 1-C considered the lowest according to the

following table:"

I think if your Honor would take a glimpse at the

regulation

The Court: Give it to the clerk.

Mr. Wertheimer: 1623.2.

The Court : You may read it.

Mr. Wertheimer: When you have read 1623.2

you can see that [57] it is our contention that you

go up from the bottom of the list, because the top

is in 1-A

The Court: I don't see it in this pamphlet.

Mr. Wertheimer: 1623.2.

The Court: 1623.2. The lower paragraph?

Mr. Wertheimer: That is correct. There it gives

the list of classifications, and it indicates that rather

than starting at the top of the list

The Court: That is Class 1-A

Mr. Wertheimer: If he is not eligible for 1-A

—

in this case Robert Korte was designated 1-0, and

therefore he is not to be classified as 1-A—if he is

not 1-A, you are to begin at the bottom of the list,

1-C, and work your way up. And we believe that, on

the contrary, the classification board started at 1-AO

and then classified him 1-0, where in fact, having

been convicted of a crime, they should have started

at 1-C and worked their way up, as it is commanded

in the regulation, to give him the first category for
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which he is eligible, and stopped at 4-P. Therefore

we say that the final classification is arbitrary and

contrary to law, and the final order to report to the

Los Angeles Department of Charities for civilian

work is void.

In our motion for judgment of acquittal we state

again that the armed forces waiver of September,

1955, is not sufficient to make him liable for

performance of civilian work, as [58] there is no

provision, either in the Act or the Regulations, for

the armed forces to waive a disqualification for a

place in civilian employment, as the armed forces

waiver is good, as stated in the waiver itself, for

military service, and therefore the final order com-

manding the registrant to report to the Los Angeles

Department of Charities, is void.

In our case, the registrant was not classified for

military service, but was ordered to do civilian work

;

therefore the waiver of physical examination is not

the same as a waiver by the local board or the Los

Angeles Department of Charities.

Lastly, there is no basis in fact for the classifica-

tion ; it is contrary to law, arbitrary and capricious,

and void, because the Selective Service failed to get

a waiver of conviction from the Los Angeles Depart-

ment of Charities, themselves. There is nothing in

the file to show that the defendant is acceptable to

the Los Angeles Department of Charities notwith-

standing his conviction, and that there is no legal

basis for the order for him to report for civilian

work.

It is on these contentions, in view of the fact that
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Mr. Korte having served a sentence prior to this

in a federal penitentiary, that we move at this time

for a judgment of acquittal.

The Court : This situation requires further study.

I am going to take an adjournment until eleven

o'clock tomorrow [59] morning. I have a matter on

at 10:00. Both sides may prepare any future argu-

ment they may wish to present, at which time I

shall make a determination on this case.

(Further discussion by counsel not ordered

transcribed for this record.)

(Whereupon an adjournment was taken until

Tuesday, June 4, 1957, at 11:00 o'clock [59-A]

a.m.)

Tuesday, June 4, 1957—11 :00 A.M.

(Following argument by counsel for the re-

spective parties not ordered transcribed for

this record, the following proceedings were

had:)

The Court: Is the matter submitted?

Mr. Wertheimer: Submitted, your Honor.

The Court : As the case now stands submitted—

I

reviewed the case in its entirety—the Court will

enter a judgment of guilty as charged in the in-

dictment.

Do you think your client would avail himself of

the charity that the law provides ?

Mr. Wertheimer: Are you speaking, your

Honor, of

The Court: Civilian activitv.
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Mr. Wertheimer: It is the defendant's conten-

tion that that is not acceptable to him, your Honor.

I should like to move at this time that until the

time of sentence his bail be continued as it is. The

government does not object.

Mr. Constine : Do I understand that counsel now

moves to have the matter referred to the probation

officer for his presentence report?

Mr. Wertheimer: I would appreciate that, your

Honor.

Mr. Constine : We have no objection to that, your

Honor.

The Court: There is not much of a report you

can make. [60]

Mr. Constine: I think all the facts are before

your Honor.

The Court: However, I don't want to deny him

any opportunity that is available to anyone else.

Mr. Wertheimer: We move that the matter be

referred, then, to the probation officer.

The Probation Officer: Two weeks, your Honor
—June 18th?

Mr. Constine: Is that agreeable?

Mr. Wertheimer: June 18th?

Mr. Constine: Whatever date is agreeable to

counsel, your Honor, and the Court.

Mr. Wertheimer: I would prefer a little bit be-

fore that, or a little after.

The Court : A little before what ?

Mr. Wertheimer: Before the 18th—the day be-

fore, or, preferably, June 24th.
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The Coiu-t : I will give you the 17th, if you want

the day before.

Mr. Wertheimer : Thank you.

The Court: Is that agreeable, counsel?

Mr. Constine: Is that agreeable?

Mr. Wertheimer: That is.

Mr. Constine: There is a problem of bail, your

Honor. He is presently, I believe, on $500 bond.

Mr. Wertheimer : That is correct.

The Court: Do you recommend that the bail be

$500? 161]

Mr. Constine: He is on that now. I don't know

if counsel desires that he remain on bail pending

judgment.

Mr. Wertheimer: I move that he remain on bail

pending judgment at this time.

The Court: The rule of this Court has been

when a defendant is found guilty—and I don 't make

any exceptions of it—he is ordered into custody

until the case is disposed of.

Mr. Wertheimer: Isn't it possible, pending the

probation report and pending sentence, that the

bail be continued? Do you have discretion in that

matter?

The Court : I have discretion in the matter, there

is no doubt about it, but I have always tried to treat

all these defendants, insofar as I can, in the same

w^ay. I have ordered them all into custody after a

full hearing.

Mr. Wertheimer: If you make judgment and

sentence at this time, your Honor, would it be pos-

sible to request a stay of execution?
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The Court: Oh, yes. You are entitled to that

under the law.

Mr. Wertheimer: Could I confer with my client

for just one moment?

The Court: Certainly.

Mr. Constine : Would your Honor desire to take

a recess for a few moments %

The Court: No. I will give him plenty of [62]

time.

I haven't talked to the wife. With your permis-

sion I will call her to the stand.

Mr. Wertheimer : Certainly, your Honor.

The Court: Step forward.

MRS. ROBERT LEE KORTE, JR.

was called as a witness on behalf of the defendant,

and, after being first duly sworn, testified as follows

:

The Court: Be seated. You needn't answer any

questions you don't wish to answer. It is only that I

wish to get your state of mind in relation to your hus-

band.

The Court, after hearing all the testimony, con-

cluded that your husband violated the law. There is

nothing for me to do but to sentence him, unless he

wants to avail himself of the opportunity to do any

civilian work.

The Witness : I think my husband has made his

statement.

The Court: What is it?

A. I believe that he has said what he desires. I

agree with his wishes, since he is the head of the

house, and I am in full accord with it.
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Q. We live in a country where if everj^one takes

this law and violated it in the manner it has been

violated here, we wouldn't have any country at all;

the Russians and the rest of them would come over

here, and it would be an invitation for them to come,

and we would be lucky to get enough to eat. [63]

Coupled with that, young men of this young man's

age, and over, have paid the extreme penalty by

their lives to sustain what we have.

History records these changes from time to time,

from century to century, and we have to conform

to the law if we hope to maintain what we have got.

It is as simple as that. There is no mystery about it

at all—no mystery about it at all.

And tell me, have vou met the defendant's father

and mother?

A. I have met his mother; I don't know his

father.

Q. And what does his father do ^. What is his oc-

cupation, do you know ?

A. I really don't know. I have talked with him

on the phone, but I have never met him, nor have I

ever seen him. I know his mother. He has a very

nice mother. She is a very nice person.

Q. I am happy to hear you say that.

(Addressing defendant) : Tell me, what does

your father do? What is his occupation?

The Defendant: I don't know, your Honor, for

the reason that I haven't seen him for three years,

as I mentioned.

The Court : When you did see him, what was he

engaged in ? What did he do ?
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The Defendant: He was working for Shell Oil

at the time. [64]

The Court: How long has he worked for Shell

Oil?

The Defendant: Up to that time he worked for

them for about 25 years.

The Court : Twenty-five years ?

The Defendant: Yes.

The Court: And he maintained you in school,

did he not?

The Defendant: That is correct.

The Court: And the education you got, your

father made it possible for you to get that education,

did he not ?

The Defendant: Partly. I worked during sum-

mer vacations to accumulate and finance myself

partly.

The Court: Partly?

The Defendant: Yes.

The Court: That wasn't a great deal, was it?

The Defendant: No.

The Court: Well, I was sorry to see you—

I

didn't know your father and I don't know him now,

but I learned long ago as a youngster to honor my
father and my mother, and a boy who doesn't do

that—^keep it in mind—will have time to remember

it for a long, long time.

The penalty here is five years in the penitentiary,

or $10,000 fine, or both. That is what you are con-

fronted with, young man. I want you to know it now.

You can't go around and interpret the law to suit
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and mother in every way that I could, except when

they wanted me to do things that I thought were not

right—not to appear to be smart in my own con-

ceit

The Court : Let's go to your mother. Have you re-

spect for your mother^

The Defendant: Certainly.

The Court: And vou haven't seen her for three

years ?

The Defendant: No; I just saw her day before

yesterday.

The Court: Yes. And what did she say to you

about the situation you find yourself in'?

The Defendant: Well, she naturally doesn't agree

with my particular viewpoint.

The Court: I am not surprised.

Who sentenced you?

Mr. Constine: It was former Judge Monroe

Friedman, your Honor.

The Court : What was the sentence at that time ?

Mr. Constine : It was 18 months.

Mr. Wertheimer : Of that 18 months the defend-

ant served approximately eight months, and re-

ceived some time off, as I [68] think you read in the

record.

The Court: Do you want to say anything in re-

lation to punishment?

The Defendant : No, your Honor.

The Court : I am speaking to your attorney.

The Defendant : Excuse me.

Mr. Wertheimer: I have indicated throughout

the trial and the comments on the evidence, your
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Honor, and I should like to bring your attention at

this time as well, that, in view of the fact that the

defendant has already served time; that his record

has been an exemplary one; that throughout his

sentence at McNeil Island he indicated co-operation,

and his record showed that he did, I feel that any

leniency that you might show at this time, of course,

would be appreciated, and we request it of your

Honor.

The Court: I will hear from the government.

Mr. Constine: Your Honor, we have no par-

ticular recommendation to make. I would say to

your Honor that we would have no objection to pro-

bation if the defendant was willing to accept some

civilian work in lieu of induction, and if he would

obey the order, even at this time, we would agree

that he should be permited to do so, as any defend-

ant who may submit to induction after conviction.

We would have no objection to that. But he takes

the position he will not, so I think there is no alter-

native for your Honor. [69]

Mr. Wertheimer: I think I might comment also,

so that the record might be clear, that any considera-

tion you would have regarding probation at this time

would be appreciated, also, your Honor.

The Court: I will put the case over to the 17th,

and I will get a report from the Probation Depart-

ment and make a final determination at that time.

You will go into custody, young man.

(Whereupon, the matter was continued to

Monday, June 17, 1957.) [70]
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and for the record, and request at this time, pur-

suant to Rule 46 of the Criminal Procedure Rules,

that bail be continued during the pending of the

appeal.

Mr. Constine: It is our position, your Honor,

that there is no real issue in this case. However, the

question of bail on appeal is entirely within your

Honor's discretion, and we will simply submit it.

The rule has been somew^hat liberalized recently. It

used to be unless there was a substantial question

a defendant was not allowed bail on appeal. The

rule has now been liberalized to the point that it

reads that unless the appeal is frivolous, bail should

be allowed. But the Appellate Court still takes the

position that there must be some question, or some

serious issue.

The Court: What is the position of the govern-

ment in relation to bail ?

Mr. Constine : I might state this : In many cases

that we oppose bail on appeal in the District Court,

and the Appellate Court allows it anyway. [73]

The Court: What is that?

Mr. Constine : In many cases in which we oppose

bail on appeal in the District Court, the Appellate

Court allows bail anyway, your Honor. But to be

honest with your Honor, I don't think there is any

question for appeal here, although I may be dis-

agreed with further on. In any event, we would op-

pose bail on appeal at this juncture.

Mr. Wertheimer: Your Honor, we raised some

points which we feel three, at least, have validity,

in view of the new position of the Court. This, by
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no means, is a frivolous act being done for the pur-

pose of just continuing the matter on appeal. We
are serious, as far as taking this matter to the

higher court. And in view of the fact that this is not

a frivolous one, it is our request that bail be con-

tinued.

The Court: What is the bail now?

Mr. Constine: The defendant, your Honor, has

been on $500 bail.

Mr. Wertheimer : That is correct.

Mr. Constine: He has attended all the hearings.

I don't think there is any question he will flee the

jurisdiction.

The Court: The bail, then, will remain at $500.

Mr. Constine : That is on appeal.

Mr. Wertheimer: Thank you, your Honor.

Mr. Constine: Will you post that bail today?

There will have to be an appeal bond. [74]

Mr. Wertheimer: We will do so.

The Court : Very w^ell.

Mr. Wertheimer: Thank you.

Certificate of Reporter

We, Official Reporters and Official Reporters pro

tem. Certify that the foregoing transcript of 74

pages is a true and correct transcript of the matter

therein contained as reported by us and thereafter

reduced to typewriting to the best of our ability.

/s/ W. A. FOSTER,

/s/ JOSEPH F. SWEENEY.

[Endorsed] : Filed September 3, 1957. [74-A]
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[Title of District Court and Cause.]

STATEMENT OP POINTS TO BE
RAISED ON APPEAL

1. The Appeal Board denied the IV-F classifica-

tion required by Section 1622.2 of the Selective Serv-

ice Regulations without basis in fact, as evidence

showed defendant had been previously convicted of

a felony. Therefore I-O classification is arbitrary,

capricious, and contrary to law, resulting in the final

assignment and order to do civilian work being void.

2. The Appeal Board arbitrarily and capri-

ciously failed to follow the classification procedure

commanded by Section 1623.2 in failing to come up

from the bottom of the list of classifications from

I-C to IV-P but, on the contrary, went down the

list of classifications from I-A-0 to the 1-0 classi-

fication and entirely ignored the IV-P classification

completely, all of which is contrary to Section 1623.2

of the Selective Service Regulations, resulting in

the final classification being arbitrary, capricious

and contrary to law, making the final order to re-

port for civilian work void.

3. The Armed Porces waiver dated September 9,

1955, is not sufficient to make the defendant liable

for the performance of civilian work because there

is no provision in the Act or the Regulations for the

Armed Porces to waive the disqualification for a

place of civilian employment, but the Armed Porces

waiver is good only for military service and, there-
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fore, the final order commanding the defendant to

perform civilian work is void.

4. The final order commanding the defendant to

report for civilian work with the Los Angeles De-

partment of Charities is void because the Selective

Service System failed to get a waiver of the con-

viction from the Los Angeles Department of Chari-

ties, the place of employment, and since there is

nothing in the file to show that the defendant was

acceptable notwithstanding his conviction there was

no legal basis for the order to report for civilian

work.

A copy of this statement has been sent to United

States Attorney Lloyd Burke.

Dated: August 16, 1957.

SMALL AND WERTHIMER,

By /s/ RICHARD J. WERTHIMER,
Attorneys for Defendant.

[Endorsed] : Filed August 20, 1957.
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United States Court of Appeals

for the Ninth Circuit

Case No. 15673

ROBERT LEE KORTE,

Appellant-Defendant,

vs.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Respondent-Plaintiff.

STIPULATION

It Is Hereby Stipulated that the Selective Service

file in the above-entitled matter be considered in its

original form without necessity of reproduction in

the printed record.

SMALL AND WERTHIMER,

By /s/ RICHARD J. WERTHIMER,
Attorneys for Appellant.

By /s/ DONALD B. CONSTINE,
Assistant U. S. Attorney,

Attorney for Respondent.

[Endorsed]: Piled September 26, 1957.


